THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

Maité Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-001977

---

The State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent,  
v.

Breanna Flannery, ..... Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Timothy D. Amey  
1495 Remount Road  
North Charleston, SC 29406  
(843) 425-2269  
Attorney for Appellant

February 19, 2018

RECEIVED  
FEB 22 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

**

## Statement of Issues on Appeal

Question I: Did the trial court err in allowing the State to submit a video into evidence without any testimony to authenticate or identify the video and without laying a sufficient foundation?

Question II: Did the trial court err in failing to dismiss the case or direct a verdict of not guilty on the charge of DUI first offense where the State failed to properly submit the statutorily required in-car video into evidence?

Question III: Did the trial court err in failing to sequester the State's witnesses, despite granting the Defendant's motion to sequester, allowing officer Tuck to conduct a direct examination of a witness and then later testify himself, in addition to providing an opening statement and a closing argument?

Question IV: Did the trial court err in failing to order a mistrial regarding hearsay evidence that was suppressed by the court prior to trial, upon the State's three overt attempts to present such inadmissible hearsay in opening statements, leading questions on direct and finally in the witnesses introductory testimony?

Question VI: Did the trial court err in allowing the State to introduce the result of the breath test into evidence when it was shown to the court that the machine was 7 months past the expiration date of Calibration, in direct violation of SLED policy and procedure, and material evidence was presented to bring the reliability of the machine into question?

Question V: Did the trial court err in finding that Officer Hayes had reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop on the Defendant?

Question VI: Did the trial court err in allowing jury selection to proceed with only 15 qualified jurors where 4 of those potential jurors either worked as police officers or explained having close ties to law enforcement?

Question VII: Did the trial court err in forcing a Monday morning trial to continue well beyond normal working hours, and what any juror might have reasonably expected, because the trial Judge is part time and only works on Mondays?

Question VIII: Did the trial court err in forcing Defense Counsel to manually turn down the volume on the television, during the State's presentation of in-car video, after suppressing information discussed in the video?

Question IX: Did the trial court err in allowing the entire trial to proceed in a manner which continuously showed deference to the inexperienced officers attempting to try a jury trial without the benefit of legal training, insisting that jurors be held for nearly 5 hours after the close of normal business, because of the judge's part-time status, and ultimately creating an unfair, unjust and unconstitutionally partial environment as a cumulative result wherein it was impossible for the case to proceed as it should under the due process clauses of the Constitutions of South Carolina and the United States?

## **Statement of the Case**

### *Procedural Facts*

Breanna Flannery was arrested on September 1, 2014. Officer Tuck charged her with Driving Under the Influence 1<sup>st</sup> Offense and Unlawful Use of a License. She pled not guilty and was tried before the Honorable Judge P. Brandt Shelbourne and a jury on April 13, 2015 in the Summerville Magistrate Court. She was convicted on both charges. He sentenced her to a fine of \$1229.50 or 30 days on the DUI and a fine of \$237.50 for Unlawful Use of a License. Defense Counsel filed a Motion to Set Aside the Conviction and Grant a Directed Verdict or for a New Trial. An order was issued on August 17, 2015 denying each ground. Notice of the Court's decision was provided to Counsel via email on August 28, 2015. Notice of intent to Appeal was then filed on August 28, 2015. The appellate Judge vacated judgment against Ms. Flannery regarding the unlawful use of a license, however her appeal was denied with regard to her conviction for DUI in an order dated August 5, 2016; the Appellant received written notice on August 10, 2016.

The Notice of Appeal was then filed on September 9, 2016.

*Factual Statement*

Breanna Flannery was driving on Dorchester Rd, when Dorchester County Deputy Hayes decided he was going to follow her. At the time, Deputy Hayes was not trained in DUI detection. He pulled behind her vehicle at a red light, at the intersection of Ladson Rd. and Dorchester Rd. Deputy Hayes proceeded to follow her vehicle for 2.8 miles, stopping at two more red lights and passing through a third intersection before stopping at the North Charleston Fire Department, where flashing yellow lights suddenly turned red and both vehicles stopped to allow a fire truck to exit the station and answer an emergency call. Deputy Hayes continued to follow Ms. Flannery for another 1.8 miles before initiating a traffic stop at the corner of Dorchester Rd. and Appian Way. In total, Deputy Hayes followed Ms. Flannery for more than 8 minutes over a distance of nearly 4 ½ miles. Deputy Hayes testified that in the entire time he followed Ms. Flannery, he noticed her tires cross the lane lines twice. He first sees her tires touch the line on a curve after three minutes and twenty seconds of following her and then again nearly five minutes later. Upon the second instance of her a tire touching the lane line in 8 minutes of pursuit, Deputy Hayes initiates a traffic stop. Rec. on App. at 4, ll 11-25 to 5, 1-23

Deputy Tuck, is called to the scene to investigate for a potential DUI as he was properly trained and qualified in DUI detection. Deputy Tuck performs Standardized Field Sobriety Tests (SFSTs) and concludes there is probable cause to arrest Ms. Flannery for DUI. Upon searching Ms. Flannery's vehicle Deputies find a driver's license belonging to another person. As a result of their investigation, Ms. Flannery is arrested and transported to Dorchester County Sheriff's Office for Blood Alcohol Breath Testing. Ms. Flannery provided a sample and the machine produced a result of 0.143, indicating the level of alcohol in her system was 143 thousandths of a percent.

## Argument

**I. The trial court erred in allowing the State to submit a video into evidence without any testimony to authenticate or identify the video and without laying a sufficient foundation.**

The South Carolina Rules of Evidence, Rule 901 requires as a condition precedent to admissibility that items entered into the record and submitted as evidence, for a jury to consider in its finding of fact, be authenticated or identified. In the instant case, the only witness capable of identifying the video evidence or authenticating it as an official copy was Deputy Hayes. Deputy Hayes testified on direct, cross-examination and redirect. He was then excused. At no point during Deputy Hayes' testimony did the State attempt to place the copy of his in-car video into evidence. (R. p. 31, line 25-p. 32 line 19) Rec. on App. at 6, l 25 to 7 ll 1-19. After the witness had been excused, the State attempted to offer a video into evidence. Defense Counsel objected to the submission of an unidentified, unauthenticated video into evidence. The Judge took a recess to determine his ruling and returned with the explanation that it was an unorthodox method, but that the State laid a sufficient foundation to enter the video into evidence. (R. p. 7) Return at 2.<sup>1</sup>

Defense Counsel again argued that testimony from Deputy Hayes, explaining that he had placed his video in the Sheriff's Department evidence locker was not sufficient to support a foundation for the evidence the State intended to introduce at trial. The State missed its opportunity to properly submit a key piece of their case into evidence. Instead of following the law, and requiring the State to comply with the SC Rules of Evidence, the court ruled that

---

<sup>1</sup> While the Magistrate's return fails to address the significant recess taken to decide whether a sufficient foundation was laid for entry of the video into evidence, or its finding that the foundation was unorthodox, it makes reference to pre-trial testimony about what happened in a video and specifically references that "Hayes testified that he took the video and entered into the Sheriff's evidence," as proof the disc Officer Tuck submitted into evidence was properly identified and authenticated.

the State got close enough and entered the video into evidence without any foundation at all. SCRCE 901. (R. p. 32, line 25-p. 33 line 15) Rec on App. at 7, ll1-25 to 8, ll 1-15.

The trial judge ruled improvidently that a video could be placed in evidence without the State's needing to follow proper procedure in an effort to show deference to the well-intentioned but poorly executed procedure of a police officer attempting to manage a jury trial. The judge was well aware of the fatal nature of the mistake made by the State, and further that it was a mistake no lawyer would likely commit. The fact that a recess was taken, with the Judge returning and ruling that an unorthodox but sufficient foundation had been laid sheds light on the stretch the court decided to make. The Rules of Evidence do not bend for the State, and officers prosecuting their own cases without the aid of an attorney should not receive any deference or special treatment, especially not when it erodes the protections afforded to the Defendant under due process.

**II. The trial court erred in failing to dismiss the case or direct a verdict of not guilty on the charge of DUI first offense where the State failed to properly submit the statutorily required in-car video into evidence.**

South Carolina law requires that the video recording at the incident site must not begin later than the activation of the officer's blue lights, include any field sobriety tests administered and include the arrest of a person for violation of §56-5-2930, or Driving Under the Influence.<sup>2</sup> The key case in the analysis of the video taping requirement is City of Rock Hill v. Suchenski, 374 S.C. 12, 646 S.E.2d 879 (2007). In Suchenski, the defendant was convicted in municipal court for driving with an unlawful alcohol concentration (DUAC). Id. At 14, 646 S.E.2d at 879. On appeal, the circuit court reversed the conviction based on the City of Rock

---

<sup>2</sup> See §56-5-2953

Hill's failure to videotape the defendant's entire arrest as the arresting officer's camera "ran out of tape." Id. Although the decision in Suchenski indisputably established that the videotaping provisions of section 56-5-2953 are mandatory and not optional, certain statutory exceptions could exist which might excuse the lack of a video. Here, no such exceptions apply. In fact, it would be the State's argument that they did have the video and it complied with the requirements of the statute. The only missing component was presenting a video to the court and to the jury, which had been identified and authenticated by Deputy Hayes in the course of his testimony. Neither one was completed.

The return filed by Judge P. Brandt Shelbourne attempts to ground its reasoning for entering the video into evidence by referencing Deputy Hayes' testimony that "he took the video and entered it into the Sheriff's evidence."<sup>3</sup> Further reference to the discussion of Defendant's motion prior to trial, challenging Deputy Hayes' reasonable suspicion for the stop, is made in an effort to validate what was deemed an unorthodox method, but what the court fails to note tells more of the story. Deputy Hayes testified about video shown to the court and described the events that took place in the video. What the return does not mention and what Deputy Hayes never mentioned at any point in his testimony was that the video presented to the court and the jury was in fact recognized by him as *the video* taken from his car on the night of the incident and fairly represented the events that took place on the day of arrest (emphasis added). Moreover, the State presented no chain of custody evidence in the course of Deputy Hayes' testimony, which might have shed light on his comment that he placed a video into the Sheriff's evidence locker. (R. p. 32, lines 3-24) Rec. on App. at 7 ll 3-24

As evidenced by this Court's decision in Suchenski, the Legislature clearly intended for a *per se* dismissal in the event a law enforcement agency violates the mandatory

---

<sup>3</sup> Magistrate's return on appeal, page 2.

provisions of section 56-5-2953. Notably, the Legislature specifically provided for the dismissal of a DUI charge unless the law enforcement agency can justify its failure to produce a videotape of a DUI arrest.<sup>4</sup> The State failed to properly submit a key piece of evidence into the record through the testimony of the only witness with knowledge, the only witness capable of properly identifying or authenticating video evidence crucial to the prosecution of a DUI offense. No such entry was made into evidence. Only later, after Deputy Hayes had been excused, did the State attempt to submit a video into evidence. The lower court erred in giving inexperienced police officers a pass on the requirements of Rule 901, SCRE, a rule of evidence designed to protect parties from inaccurate or potentially misleading information entering into evidence before the trier of fact, and in doing so, attempted write a new set of rules which unfairly and unconstitutionally abridge a defendant's right to due process in violation of the 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> amendments to the Constitution.

**III. The trial court erred in failing to sequester the State's witnesses, despite granting the Defendant's motion to sequester, allowing officer Tuck to conduct a direct examination of a witness and then later testify himself, in addition to providing an opening statement and a closing argument.**

The Supreme Court has ruled that the impracticality of a prosecuting attorney presenting every traffic court violation gives way to permitting the practice of allowing an arresting officer to prosecute cases in magistrate's court.<sup>5</sup> This rule was extended in State ex rel. McLeod v. Seaborn, where the Court decided that a supervisory officer could assist a new or inexperienced officer in prosecuting a case. The Court saw no distinction, for the purpose of evaluating a violation of the statute prohibiting the practice of law without being enrolled as a

<sup>4</sup> *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 347, 713 S.E.2d 278, 285 (2011)

<sup>5</sup> *State v. Messervy*, 258 S.C. 110, 187 S.E.2d 524 (1972)

member of the South Carolina Bar, between the arresting officer and a supervisory officer in handling the prosecution of a case.<sup>6</sup>

In pre-trial motions Defense Counsel argued to the judge that the State's witnesses should be sequestered. That motion was granted, however, Deputy Tuck was allowed to perform a direct examination of Deputy Hayes before he himself took the stand. (R. p. 6) Return at 1. Defense counsel objected to this decision arguing that Deputy Tuck's presence in the courtroom was not required for Deputy Hayes testimony and that the purpose of sequestering the State's witnesses would be completely undermined, not only by Deputy Tuck being present, but more importantly by his being able to conduct examination of the witness. (R. p. 34, line 18-p. 35 line 25) Rec. on App. at 9 ll 18-25 to 10 ll 1-25. The opportunity for either purposeful or unintended cohesion of the witnesses' testimony is far too great where a primary witness in a case is able to perform the examination of another witness. State v. Messervy plainly allows an officer to prosecute his own case. He may provide an opening statement, present testimony and evidence, if in accordance with the rules, and finally present a closing argument. The Court found that this did not present prejudice and was instead a means for efficiently handling cases in the lower court. Id.

State ex rel. McLeod v. Seaborn similarly stands for the proposition that a supervisor may step into the role of an attorney and assist in trying a case where an officer is new or inexperienced. Id. However, the lower court in this case erred in attempting to blend these cases' respective findings to say that an officer may take complete control of the courtroom. This trial is a perfect example of a case where Dorchester County should have provided a supervising officer to examine Deputy Tuck and Deputy Hayes, and take on the rest of the responsibilities of presenting the State's case. Instead, the jury was treated to the Deputy Tuck

---

<sup>6</sup> SC Code §40-5-310

show. Allowing Deputy Tuck to wear so many hats most certainly created an unfair picture of authority and trustworthiness to the jury, both in his statements and arguments as well as in his questions and testimony, but more importantly, it allowed him to present the jury with a seamless presentation of the State's case, free of any contradiction, discrepancy or possible human error. He was able to play his cards in a hand of bridge with the benefit of staring at all his partners' cards. This should never have been allowed and it created reversible error.

**IV. The trial court erred in failing to order a mistrial regarding hearsay evidence that was suppressed by the court prior to trial, upon the State's three overt attempts to present such inadmissible hearsay in opening statements, leading questions on direct and finally in the witness' introductory testimony.**

In nearly every case where the South Carolina Supreme Court has addressed the issue of hearsay testimony serving as cause for a mistrial, the Court generally states that the defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice. State v. Gardner and State v. Chisolm both find that where testimony is cumulative and a curative instruction is given, the appearance of hearsay on the record does not amount to reversible error. These and other similar cases all involve attorneys trained in legal theory, the rules of evidence and, more than likely, lawyers with previous trial experience. In such a scenario, both the State's attorney and Defense counsel are well aware of what constitutes inadmissible hearsay, and both will generally not make overt attempts to put such evidence into the record, especially when previously cautioned by the court.

The scenario in this case was far different. Counsel for the Defendant, being fully aware the State's case would be presented by inexperienced police officers, took the time to very deliberately move the court in advance of opening statements seeking to make sure both Deputy Tuck and Deputy Hayes understood that any reference to Deputy Hayes' having been "flagged

down in reference to an impaired driver” was inadmissible hearsay. Normally, Defense counsel would wait to object during testimony, but there was concern about the officers’ understanding of the rule and the motion was made pre-trial as a motion to suppress any mention of being flagged down, as that individual was not available to testify. The Judge agreed and took time to explain to both officers that no mention could be made regarding Deputy Hayes being flagged down. (R. p. 36, line 17-p. 37 line 1) Rec. on App. at 11 ll 17-25 to 12 l 1. All parties agreed and stated that they understood and the jury was called in to begin opening statements.

In the course of his opening statement, Deputy Tuck made specific mention of Deputy Hayes being flagged down in reference to an impaired driver. Defense Counsel had to object within less than 2 minutes of the State’s presentation of it’s case. The jury was removed. The judge again explained the rule and that it could not come before the jury as it was inadmissible hearsay. When the jury returned, Deputy Tuck finished his opening statement, Defense counsel gave an opening statement and the State began presenting its case in chief. After asking Deputy Hayes to introduce himself to the jury, the very first question of substance from Deputy Tuck was “what reason did you have to be following the Defendant’s car?” Defense counsel was forced to object again, and a sidebar was held in the presence of the jury where the judge explained to Deputy Tuck that he could not directly solicit the hearsay testimony. After the sidebar, Deputy Tuck returned to questioning Deputy Hayes. His opening question was amended to “Tell us what happened on September 1, 2014.” Deputy Hayes responded saying, “Well, I was flagged down in reference to an impaired driver.” Defense counsel had now lodged three objections from the beginning of opening statements through the second question on direct and the jury was twice required to leave the courtroom for the judge to admonish Deputy Tuck and then Deputy Hayes. (R. p. 37, line 1-22) Rec. on App. at 12 ll 1-22. Grounds for App. at 4.

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