ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2016-001977

RECEIVED
FEB 06 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

BREANNA FLANNERY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

140 N. Main St., Suite 102
Summerville, South Carolina 29483
(843) 871-2640

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

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

Further, the record fails to reflect whether counsel renewed his motion for mistrial after the magistrate provided the jury a curative instruction. State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 146, 731 S.E.2d 604, 615 (Ct. App. 2012) (noting the law assumes a curative instruction will remedy an error; therefore, failure to object to the sufficiency of that charge renders the issue waived and unpreserved for appellate review).

Again, Flannery chose to proceed in Common Pleas without a transcript or recording of the trial. So the common pleas court and this Court simply does not have an adequate record to determine if the issue is preserved, whether the testimony actually was properly considered hearsay, whether any prejudice ensued, or whether the alleged error was not harmless. Appellant has the burden of presenting an adequate record that is sufficiently complete so that the appellate court is able to review the lower court’s actions. State v. Knighton, 334 S.C. 125, 136, 512 S.E.2d 117, 123 (Ct. App. 1999). Prejudice must be based on review of the entire record. State v. White, 371 S.C. 439, 448, 639 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2006) cited in State v. Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 586, 698 S.E.2d 862, 866 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding prejudice not demonstrated where record on appeal only contained twenty-five pages of a transcript in excess of four hundred pages). Because Flannery failed to provide a record for the common pleas judge and this Court to determine if there was error

and if it was preserved for review, and further to determine prejudice of the alleged error in relation to the rest of the trial, this Court should decline to review the alleged error.

V.

The magistrate did not err in finding law enforcement had reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop, and appellant failed to provide a sufficient record for review as the video recording upon which the magistrate relied to make his ruling was not part of the record on appeal before the common pleas court.

The magistrate found reasonable suspicion existed because a pedestrian reported Flannery's vehicle was weaving and the deputy saw Flannery cross the traffic lines. The magistrate based his ruling on the video made while the deputy followed Flannery's vehicle. That video was not made part of the record on appeal. The magistrate's ruling is supported by evidence and should be affirmed. Further, Flannery failed to provide a sufficient record for review of the issue.

Reasonable suspicion, under federal law, consists of "a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity." State v. Lesley, 326 S.C. 641, 644, 486 S.E.2d 276, 277 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981)). The reasonable suspicion standard "is a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less than preponderance of the evidence. . . ." Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000). "Reasonable suspicion is more than a general hunch but less than what is required for probable cause." State v. Willard, 374 S.C. 129, 134, 647 S.E.2d 252, 255 (Ct. App. 2007); see State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 534, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 2006) ("Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch."). "Reasonable suspicion depends on the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act." Navarette v. California, 134 S.Ct. 1683 (2014) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

In the instant case, the magistrate indicated the following in his return:

As for reasonable suspicion for the stop and probable cause, the Court reviewed the video taken by Deputy Hayes and observed Defendant's vehicle crossing the lines. Further Hayes testified, outside the presence of the jury, that he pulled the Defendant over because he was earlier flagged down by a concerned citizen and because he saw Defendant cross over the lines. Based on that the Court found that there was probable cause for the stop.

R. p. 7.

“When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling.” State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011). In State v. Vinson, 400 S.C. 347, 349, 734 S.E.2d 182, 183 (2012), a trooper observed the vehicle he was following weave within the lane and initiated a traffic stop on the belief Vinson was under the influence of alcohol. The Supreme Court found the trooper had reasonable suspicion to believe Vinson violated S.C. Code § 56-5-1900, which requires a driver to stay, generally speaking, within a single lane of a two lane road. In the instant case, law enforcement had reasonable probability to believe Flannery committed a traffic offense as well as reasonable suspicion to believe she was driving under the influence based on the tip from a pedestrian and the deputy's own observations.

Further, it appears from the record that Flannery failed to ensure the video was presented to the common pleas court so the common pleas court could review whether the video, along with other evidence, supports the magistrate's ruling. Consequently, the video is not part of this Court's record for review. Flannery's entire argument is not based on evidence in the record, but her counsel's personal recollection of the evidence. Appellant has the burden of presenting an adequate record that is sufficiently complete so that the appellate court is able to review the lower court's actions. State v. Knighton, 334 S.C. 125, 136, 512 S.E.2d 117, 123 (Ct. App. 1999). Prejudice must be based on

review of the entire record. State v. White, 371 S.C. 439, 448, 639 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2006) cited in State v. Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 586, 698 S.E.2d 862, 866 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding prejudice not demonstrated where record on appeal only contained twenty-five pages of a transcript in excess of four hundred pages).

Moreover, Flannery's argument is premised on the NHTSA manual. Nothing in the limited record presented indicates that Flannery argued the applicability of the manual, if any, to a determination of a Fourth Amendment issue. See State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 34, 522 S.E.2d 598, 601 (1999) (finding the ground raised in support of a claim of error on appeal must be the same ground offered in support of the objection at trial).

VI.

Any purported issue of maintenance of the datamaster machine went to weight rather than admissibility of the datamaster results. The record is insufficient for review to determine whether a defect existed, whether appellant was prejudiced, and whether any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Flannery alleges that SLED procedure was not followed in maintenance of the datamaster, again relying his own recollection of the trial, not on a recording or transcript of the trial. To the extent a sufficient record might have been established for this Court to review this issue, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the issue went to weight rather than admissibility of the test results. Further, Flannery did not supply a sufficient record for review.

The magistrate ruled as follows:

Defendant objected to the introduction of the breath test results contending that the breathalyzer machine was not working properly and was not reliable. Defendant requested that the Court make a determination that SLED policy and procedures were violated and that there was a material question about the reliability of the machine's reading warranting the exclusion of the results. The Court denied this request finding that the alleged unreliability went to the weight of the evidence. Defendant [did] not attempt to introduce any evidence or testimony that the machine was unreliable or that the results were unreliable or that there were any other challenges to the test data. This Court was not in a position to make findings of fact as to the reliability of a data master machine as this was within the jury's province.

R. pp. 7-8.

In State v. Huntley, 349 S.C. 1, 562 S.E.2d 472 (2002), the Supreme Court found no prejudice from the failure of the breathalyzer operator to use the statutorily required simulator test solution. The Court found there was no question the breathalyzer machine operated properly and the results were reliable. Accordingly, the Supreme Court found the question went to weight, not

admissibility of the appellant's breathalyzer results. Id.

In the instant case, no recording or transcript of the trial was made part of the record, so this Court is unable to determine prejudice from the alleged deficiency. For that matter, beyond counsel's personal recollections made to the Common Pleas judge, there is no evidence of a variance from any statute or rule. Appellant bears the burden of presenting an adequate record that is sufficiently complete so that the appellate court is able to review the lower court's actions. State v. Knighton, 334 S.C. 125, 136, 512 S.E.2d 117, 123 (Ct. App. 1999). Prejudice must be based on review of the entire record. State v. White, 371 S.C. 439, 448, 639 S.E.2d 160, 164 (Ct. App. 2006) cited in State v. Wilson, 389 S.C. 579, 586, 698 S.E.2d 862, 866 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding prejudice not demonstrated where record on appeal only contained twenty-five pages of a transcript in excess of four hundred pages).

The magistrate found the issue went to weight rather than admissibility. Without a transcript, this Court cannot review to determine what other evidence of intoxication was presented to the jury, what explanation was provided by officers for any issues concerning the maintenance of the machines or the reliability of the test results, or even what arguments Flannery's counsel made to the magistrate. Accordingly, this Court should find that Flannery failed to provide a sufficient record for review and further, that the magistrate did not abuse his discretion in declining to suppress the datamaster results.

VII.

The trial court did not err in allowing the jury to continue deliberating until it reached a verdict at 9 p.m.

Flannery argues that the trial went too late. It ended at 9 p.m. The magistrate noted in his return that Flannery did not raise this ground in his motion to set aside the verdict. Further, the record fails to reflect that Flannery objected to the trial proceeding after the magistrate asked the jury if it wished to continue or conclude the trial at a later date. The jury indicated it unanimously wished to continue. Return of Appeal p. 1. Given the wide discretion provided to trial courts, this was certainly not error. “Trial judges in South Carolina, as elsewhere, are allowed a wide discretion in the trial of cases. This is as it should be because a trial judge experiences ‘a feel of the case’ which oftentimes may not be detected from a cold printed record.” State v. Perry, 278 S.C. 490, 494, 299 S.E.2d 324, 326 (1983).

The record does not indicate an objection was raised, accordingly, the issue is not preserved for review. “Our law is clear that a party must make a contemporaneous objection that is ruled upon by the trial judge to preserve an issue for appellate review.” State v. Sheppard, 391 S.C. 415, 420-21, 706 S.E.2d 16, 19 (2011). The burden is on appellant to provide a sufficient record for review. State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 194, 498 S.E.2d 642, 644 (1998); State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 469 S.E.2d 49 (1996).

Further, Flannery fails to cite any authority for the argument that the magistrate erred. Accordingly, this Court should not review the conclusory argument. Flannery’s argument is “so conclusory as to be an abandonment of the issue on appeal.” Cole v. South Carolina Electric and Gas, Inc., 355 S.C. 183, 196, 584 S.E.2d 405, 412 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing First Sav. Bank v.

McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994)); see also State v. Colf, 332 S.C. 313, 332, 504 S.E.2d 360, 364 (Ct. App. 1998) (finding a conclusory two-paragraph argument citing no authority other than an evidentiary rule was deemed abandoned on appeal).

VIII.

The trial court did not err in requiring counsel to turn down the volume during a portion of the recording counsel wanted redacted, and counsel never objected, so the issue is not preserved for review.

Flannery complains his counsel should not have been required to turn down the volume during a discussion on video concerning “Zero Tolerance” in order for the discussion to be redacted as Flannery wanted. Flannery never objected to being required to turn down the volume in order to redact the offending “Zero Tolerance” language from the jury’s ears. See R. p. 7. Accordingly the issue is not preserved for review. A defendant cannot acquiesce in an issue at trial and then complain about it on appeal. State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 498 S.E.2d 642 (1998); State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 486, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1992) (finding an issue is not preserved for review where a party accepts the trial court’s ruling without objection).

Moreover, because Flannery fails to cite any authority finding error where a redaction of evidence is accomplished by one of the attorneys lowering the volume of a video, this Court should refrain from reviewing the issue. State v. Colf, 332 S.C. 313, 332, 504 S.E.2d 360, 364 (Ct. App. 1998) (finding a conclusory two-paragraph argument citing no authority other than an evidentiary rule was deemed abandoned on appeal).

The conduct of a criminal trial is left largely to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Barton, 325 S.C. 522, 529, 481 S.E.2d 439, 443 (Ct. App. 1997) (citing State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 614, 274 S.E.2d 411, 414 (1981)). The trial court found a practical procedure to ensure that the requested redaction was made pursuant to defense counsel’s request – there was no error.

Further, the State disagrees based on the record before this Court that any prejudice ensued.

State v. Preslar, 364 S.C 466, 473, 613 S.E.2d 381, 385 (Ct. App. 2005) (“In order for an error to warrant reversal, the error must result in prejudice to the appellant.”). Certainly, the jury based its verdict on the evidence it saw and heard, not on a portion of the video the jury would understand was not for its consideration.

IX.

Because no errors were committed and the record was insufficient for review of the alleged errors, there was not cumulative error, and the issue was not ruled upon by the common pleas court so it is not preserved for review.

Flannery failed to show error in any of the eight issues she raised on appeal, and she failed to show prejudice. Flannery saves a good bit of vitriol for arguing the cumulative impact of alleged errors. In doing so, Flannery asks this Court to reverse on opposing counsel's version of events that are unsupported by the record. Germain v. Nichol, 278 S.C. 508, 509, 299 S.E.2d 335, 335 (1983) (finding appellant failed to provide a sufficient record for review where appellant did not provide the Court with any of the trial testimony). Further, Flannery's argument is unsupported by citation to any legal authority. Flannery's argument is "so conclusory as to be an abandonment of the issue on appeal." Cole v. South Carolina Electric and Gas, Inc., 355 S.C. 183, 196, 584 S.E.2d 405, 412 (Ct. App. 2003) (citing First Sav. Bank v. McLean, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994)); see also State v. Colf, 332 S.C. 313, 332, 504 S.E.2d 360, 364 (Ct. App. 1998) (finding a conclusory two-paragraph argument citing no authority other than an evidentiary rule was deemed abandoned on appeal).

Based on the lean, nearly non-existent record provided to the common pleas judge and now to this Court, Flannery is not entitled to a new trial based on the alleged cumulative effect of errors that are not preserved for review. There is no record to judge prejudice from the asserted errors in comparison with the evidence of guilt. This case does not warrant reversal on cumulative error. "As we have stressed on more than one occasion, the Constitution entitles a criminal defendant to a fair trial, not a perfect one." State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 199-200, 498 S.E.2d 642, 647-48 (1998)

(finding reversal on cumulative error doctrine not warranted).

Finally, the issue was not ruled upon by the Court of Common Pleas, and therefore is not preserved for review. An issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court in order to be considered on appeal. State v. Lopez, 352 S.C. 373, 378, 574 S.E.2d 210, 213 (Ct. App. 2002).

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.